IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT JEFFREY TREASE, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 89,961

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

____:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANDREA NORGARD Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0661066

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record in this case consists of 31 volumes and one supplemental volume. Volumes 1 through 12 contain records supplied by the clerk, including depositions. These volumes will be designated "C" in the Initial Brief. The remaining volumes contain transcripts of the hearing and trial and will be referred to as "R" in the Initial Brief. The supplement will be referred to as "S". Arabic numerals shall be used to designate the Volume numbers.

The Appellant in this case, Mr. Trease, shall be referenced by the use of his name. The co-defendant, Hope Seigel shall be referred to as "Seigel".

Summaries of the depositions will not be done in the Statement of the Facts in the interest of page conservation. When necessary, they will be referred to in the brief and referenced as being testimony contained only in deposition.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 28, 1995, the Appellant, Robert Trease, was indicted by the Grand Jury for Sarasota County, the Twelfth Judicial Circuit, for the murder of Paul Edenson on August 17, 1995. (Vol.1, C31-32) Hope Seigel was charged as a co-defendant in a separate indictment. (Vol.1, C37) Conflict counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Trease. (Vol.1, C8,132) Mr. Trease was also charged with Armed Burglary and Robbery with a Firearm arising out of the same incident as the murder, and these charges were consolidated for trial. (Vol.1, C183)

Numerous pre-trial motions were filed by the State, including Notices of Intent to Use Evidence of Other Crimes and Wrongs (Vol.1, C188-189; Vol.2, C211-212,374-375; Vol.3, C513-514); Motions in Limine regarding the co-defendant (Vol.3, C509-510), victim (Vol.3, C511-512), defense witnesses (Vol.3, C576-577), and the co-defendant's statements to others (Vol.4, C625-626).

Defense counsel also filed numerous pre-trial motions, including moving to Appoint Co-Counsel (Vol.1, C58-59) to strike the Notice of Other Crimes (Vol.4, C637-638); to Suppress Statements (Vol.4, C628-634); Motions for Koon and Nelson inquiries (Vol.2, C353-363, Vol.3, C451-453,496-500); and Motions in Limine (Vol.4, C655-636; Vol. 12, C 1770-1774)

Mr. Trease sought to remove defense counsel on numerous occasions. The first motion to dismiss counsel was filed on

September 6, 1996. (Vol.2, C242-246) A supplement to the motion was filed on September 12, 1996. (Vol.2, C258-264) An emergency Motion to Dismiss Counsel was filed on September 30, 1996. (Vol.2, C280-295) Defense counsel moved to withdraw on October 7, 1996. (Vol.1, S2407-2410) An ex-parte hearing was heard on the motion on the same day. (Vol.32, C303-333) Mr. Trease then filed an Second Emergency Motion to Dismiss Counsel on October 9, 1996. (Vol.2, C334-341) All motions were denied. (Vol.2, C353-370) Mr. Trease unsuccessfully attempted to appeal this denial to the Second District Court of Appeal. (Vol.2, C373,377-378, Vol.4, C679)

Mr. Trease was tried by a jury from November 25, through December 11, 1996. (Vol.18-29) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on December 11, 1996. (Vol.1, C1846-1847)

Penalty phase was held on December 16 through 19, 1996.

(Vol. 30-31) The jury returned an advisory recommendation of 11
1 in favor of execution. (Vol.29, C1884-1885)

The trial court sentenced Mr. Trease to death on January 22, 1997. (Vol.12, C2232-2246) The Notice of Appeal was filed on February 18, 1996. (Vol.12, C2335-2336)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The body of Paul Edenson was found by his housekeeper on August 18, 1995. (Vol.22, R1490-1492) Mr. Edenson was lying in a pool of blood in the living room of his home just off the Boulevard of the President's in Sarasota, Florida, clad in a bathrobe and underwear. (Vol.22, R1492,1499) The police were summoned. They secured the area and sent for the medical examiner. (Vol.22, R1497-1508) The police found no signs of forced entry and observed only the couch near the body seemed to be out of place. (Vol.22, R1507-1508)

Dr. James Wilson, the medical examiner, viewed the body at the scene. (Vol.22, R1513) He observed the body on the floor in a large pool of blood and a one to two inch piece of tissue lying four to six feet from the body. (Vol.22, R1514-1520) When the body was turned over a piece of rubber from the tip of a rubber glove was found. (Vol.22, R1522-1525)

Dr. Wilson, through observation at the scene and a subsequent autopsy, determined that Mr. Edenson had been shot on the right side of his face, with the gun most likely having been placed against his head. (Vol.22, R1531) The bullet passed through the frontal lobes and exited through the right eye, completely disrupting it and causing it to be dislodged to the floor. (Vol.22, R1531-1535,1535-1543; Vol.23, R1584) The gunshot wound was

consistent with having been made by a 9mm bullet. (Vol.22, R1539) Wilson stated the injuries would ultimately be fatal, but that they would not have immediately caused death. Brain stem function, which controls breathing, was not immediately affected. (Vol.22, R1543)

The left eye and tip of the nose also showed signs of abrasion consistent with him having been struck. (Vol.22, R1535-1537) There were some small marks on the back of the right arm which might be consistent with having been caused by a stun gun. (Vol.23, R1589-1590)

Dr. Wilson also observed severe trauma to the neck. (Vol.22, R1545) Dr. Wilson found three large wounds which cut deeply into the neck and were made from right to left. (Vol.22, R1550-1555) The most likely instrument used to make them was a knife (Vol.22, R1571-1573) The piece of tissue found on the floor of the house a few feet from the body was the hyoid bone which is located just above the larynx. (Vol.22, R1557-1558) Dr. Wilson opined that it would take a very powerful cutting or thrusting movement to expel that tissue and to account for the depth of the cuts. A tremendous amount of force was required to cause these injuries. (Vol.22, R1558) Dr. Wilson acknowledged that sometimes great anger or rage can lead to increased strength. (Vol.23, R1591-1592)

Dr. Wilson opined that Mr. Edenson was struck in the face shortly before his death. He was then shot and his head pulled

back with the assailant behind him and his throat cut. (Vol.22, R1559-1563) Dr. Wilson also believed that Mr. Edenson would have been capable of some movement after being shot. (Vol.22, R1565) Mr. Edenson may have been subdued in his level of consciousness, but he could have been aware that he had been injured and tried to escape further injury. (Vol.22, R1566) He may have been able to make some vocalization sounds. (Vol.22, R1566) The neck wounds in combination with the gunshot wound would have caused death in a matter of minutes. (Vol.22, R1569)

Hope Seigel testified that she was present at the death of Paul Edenson. (Vol.23, R1603) Seigel was a 25 year old, single parent of a 9 year old girl. (Vol.23, R1604) Seigel liked black panthers, and sometimes signed her name "Black Panther". (Vol.23, R1753) She lived at her parents home in Bradenton. (Vol.23, R1615) Seigel's mother, Mary, cared for her child. (Vol.23, R1616)

Seigel had been in a serious car accident in 1992. (Vol.23, R1748) It caused her to be moody, to be forgetful, and much more emotional due to the brain injuries she suffered. (Vol.23, R1749) Mary Seigel noted that Seigel "couldn't take everything" in and would be easily frustrated. (Vol.24, R1852) Seigel admitted to taking several drugs, including Vicodin and Valium. (Vol.23, R1768) She would take Prozac if it was around. (Vol.23, R1769) According to her mother, Seigel was right handed. (Vol.23, R1850)

Seigel pled guilty to the charge of principal to a second degree murder after being charged with first degree murder and was awaiting sentencing at the time of her testimony (Vol.23, R1803). Seigel agreed to testify consistent with the statement she had given at her arrest. (Vol.23, R1815) She expected to receive between 10 and 20 years prison as punishment for her participation in the murder of Mr. Edenson. (Vol.23, R1604-1605) Seigel was aware that no evidence linking Mr. Trease to the crime was found at the scene. (Vol.23, R1803) The only evidence placing him at the murder was Seigel's word. (Vol.23, R1803) Seigel admitted to contacting Mr. Trease after they were arrested to try to get him to say things to incriminate himself and exonerate her. (Vol.23, R1808) She admitted to sending him a pornographic picture she drew of herself. (Vol.23, R1809-1810)

Seigel testified that she was Mr. Trease's sometime girl-friend. (Vol.23, R1607) They began to date in December 1994, broke up in the spring of 1995, and then got back together toward summer. (Vol.23, R1612) Seigel admitted she was very jealous of Mr. Trease, she sought out his girlfriend when she and he were broken up, and was very angry. (Vol.23, R1752-1753) During the break-up Seigel dated a man named David Shorin several times and had an intimate relationship with him. (Vol.23, R1613,1754,2213) She was aware that Shorin had guns in his bedroom. (Vol.23, R1614,1755)

Seigel had some familiarity with handguns and was planning on taking shooting lessons. (Vol.23, R1757-1760)

Seigel and Mr. Trease took a trip to Biloxi together, which was the beginning of their reconciliation, and while there planned to burglarize Shorin. (Vol.23, R1616) They went to Shorin's house, and after making sure he was not home, they entered through a window and stole a safe. (Vol.23, R1618) They took the safe in Seigel's truck back to Seigel's house. (Vol.23, R1618) They found guns, money, and knives in the safe. (Vol.23, R1619,2203-2205) Mr. Trease left town with several of the guns. (Vol.23, R1620) When he returned he had kept several of the guns, including a very small one and a Glock. (Vol.23, R1621) Mr. Trease would carry the Glock in the back of his pants. (Vol.23, R1622)

Seigel saw Mr. Shorin after the burglary. (Vol.23, R1620) She did not tell him that she had committed the burglary. (Vol.23, R1620,1762-1763) In his words, she was "cool as a cat". (Vol.25, R2215)

According to Seigel, Mr. Trease told her that he had worked for the FBI and the DEA or something. (Vol.23, R1625) In fact, Seigel had worked for the police and owned two shirts that said "Police" on them. (Vol.23, R1625,1748)

Mr. Trease stayed with Seigel at her parent's home while her parents and daughter were in Pennsylvania. (Vol.23, R1626) She

observed him practice defensive martial arts called "Aikido". (Vol. 23, R1626)

Seigel met Paul Edenson in 1995 when she went with Mr. Trease to Bayview Motors for the purpose of selling his Mercedes. (Vol.23, R1995) Edenson owned Bayview Motors. (Vol.23, R1609) Mr. Trease's car was taken by Bayview on consignment, but did not sell. It was returned. (Vol.24, R1938-1939) Seigel went to the dealership three or four times and also ran into Mr. Edenson once in a restaurant. (Vol.23, R1611) Seigel and Mr. Trease would sometimes drive by the car lot and Mr. Trease would wonder if there was a safe in the store. (Vol.23, R1627)

According to Seigel, it was Mr. Trease's idea for her to call Mr. Edenson and arrange a date with him in order for her to find out if he had a safe they could then steal. (Vol.23, R1628) Seigel called and talked to Mr. Edenson. (Vol.23, R1629)

She called Mr. Edenson again on her phone on August 17, 1995. (Vol.23, R1629) Seigel claimed she didn't want to make the calls, and she called different numbers to fool Mr. Trease. (Vol.23, R1630) According to Seigel, Mr. Trease got frustrated, took the phone, dialed information, and had the operator connect the call, and then handed her the phone. (Vol.23, R1631) Phone records reflected that three calls were made to Bayview Motors on August 17 from the Seigel residence. (Vol.24, R1906) The calls were present on the bill because they utilized directory assistance. (Vol.24,

R1910) Instead of hanging up, Seigel arranged a date for that evening with Mr. Edenson. (Vol.23, R1631-1632)

Rick Goldman was in Paul Edenson's office on August 17, 1995, when Edenson received a phone call around 6:30 p.m. (Vol.24, R1878) Due to the gestures and facial expressions Mr. Edenson gave him during the call, Goldman believed the caller was a female. (Vol.24, R1881)

Seigel got very dressed up for the date, wearing a black dress and high heels. (Vol.23, R1633) She did her hair up big. (Vol.23, R1633) Seigel took some drugs, Vicodin and Valium, with some vodka. (Vol.23, R1636) Seigel carried her purse, which contained her stun gun. (Vol.23, R1729,1776) Mr. Trease dressed in casual clothes and then she drove them down to Mr. Edenson's house in her pick-up truck. (Vol.23, R1634) Once they got to his neighborhood, she saw Mr. Edenson in his yard. He waved and Mr. Trease ducked down so he wouldn't be seen. (Vol.23, R1636-1637) Seigel drove around the block and dropped Mr. Trease off at a bar called ChaCha Coconuts. (Vol.23, R1638) Seigel returned alone to Mr. Edenson's. (Vol.23, R1638)

Seigel went in the house and sat in a massage chair while Mr. Edeson showered. (Vol.23, R1638) She then sat on the couch with Edenson while he was wearing only bikini underwear and smoked a joint with him. (Vol.23, R1638-1643) Mr. Edenson seemed sad and talked to Seigel about money troubles. (Vol.23, R1643-1645) Seigel

commiserated with him and offered to help him. Then they decided to order Chinese food and have it delivered rather than going out to eat. (Vol.23, R1645) Christopher Gauthier, who worked at China Palace Restaurant, received a call for take out Chinese at 8:53 p.m. He delivered it around 10:00p.m due to the long distance between the restaurant and Mr. Edenson's house.. (Vol.24, R1890) He saw a white truck and a Mercedes in the driveway. (Vol.24, R1891)

While they were waiting on the food to arrive Seigel testified that she decided to go find Mr. Trease, although she testified to no prearranged meeting. (Vol.23, R1645) Seigel lied to Mr. Edenson, telling him she needed to see a friend at the Columbia, and then left, walking to ChaCha Coconuts. (Vol.23, R1647-1648) Mr. Edenson had suggested she walk.

Seigel discovered Mr. Trease sitting at the bar talking to two Brazilian women. (Vol.23, R1648-1649) This angered her, especially when Mr. Trease ignored her. (Vol.23, R1649-1650,1778) She became even more angry when she saw one of the women giving Mr. Trease her phone number. (Vol.23, R1650) Mr. Trease got up and left the bar and Seigel followed him. (Vol.23, R1650)

Margarida Wortman and Edjanira Viana were the two Brazilian women in the bar. (Vol.24, R1945) They recalled meeting Mr. Trease and talking to him for about 20 minutes. (Vol.24, R1948,1970) Edjanira gave him her phone number on a piece of paper. (Vol.24,

R1949,1973-1977) The women recalled Seigel coming in because she was dressed up. (Vol.24, R1950) She seemed very nervous and was smoking non-stop. (Vol.24, R1950,1978) Seigel did not seem normal. (Vol.24, R1957) Seigel did not speak to Mr. Trease, but he said he knew her. (Vol.24, R1951) Mr. Trease said Seigel was the police according to Wortman. (Vol.24, R1952) When the women left they saw Mr. Trease and Seigel arguing outside on the street. (Vol.24, R1953,1984) They saw Seigel push Mr. Trease, but he didn't touch her. (Vol.24, R1960)

Seigel's story was that she and Mr. Trease argued about whether or not Mr. Edenson had a safe and whether they should call the thing off. (Vol.23, R1651,1779) Mr. Trease was also angry because Seigel had messed things up with the woman in the bar. (Vol.23, R1651,1780) They continued to argue and Seigel walked back toward Mr. Edenson's house. (Vol.23, R1653) She turned once and saw Mr. Trease behind her. (Vol.23, R1653) Seigel also remembered passing another man who smelled good. (Vol.23, R1654) When she turned again, she did not see Mr. Trease. (Vol.23, R1783)

Edward Koleck was the man that Seigel passed and thought smelled good. (Vol.24, R1914) Mr. Koleck lived on North Boulevard of the Presidents. (Vol.24, R1914) He was walking to the Columbia on the night of August 17 at around 10:00 p.m. (Vol.24, R1914) He remembered passing Seigel because she was wearing a very tight dress, high heels, and had a good build. (Vol.24, R1917) Koleck

saw a man a short ways behind her, with a medium build and long curly hair. (Vol.24, R1918) Both were walking quickly. (Vol.24, R1920) Koleck watched for a minute, decided they had had a lover's quarrel, and went on. (Vol.24, R1921) When he went home at 12:30, he heard the T.V. on very loudly at Mr. Edenson's home. (Vol.24, R1922) The next day he learned Mr. Edenson had been killed. (Vol.24, R1926) Koleck later saw the girl's picture on T.V. and contacted the police. (Vol.24, R1927)

Seigel knocked on Edenson's door, he answered in a bathrobe, and she went in. (Vol.23, R1655) Mr. Edenson locked the door and went back to serving the Chinese food. (Vol.23, R1655) According to Seigel she again lied to Mr. Edenson, telling him she needed to get her cigarettes from her truck, when she was really planning to leave. (Vol.23, R1655) Mr. Edenson unlocked the door for her; and as he did so, Mr. Trease jumped into the room. (Vol.23, R1657-1659)

Seigel stated that Mr. Trease struck Mr. Edenson in the face, causing him to fall back and in doing so, Mr. Edenson grabbed Mr. Trease's shirt. (Vol.23,1659-1660) Mr. Trease continued to strike Mr. Edenson and Seigel stated she saw gloves on Mr. Trease's hands. (Vol.23, R1660) Seigel stated she heard Mr. Trease tell Mr. Edenson that he should kill him for tearing his shirt. (Vol.23, R1662)

Seigel then said Mr. Trease got into one of his karate positions and got Mr. Edenson down on the floor. (Vol.23, R1662)

Mr. Trease was sitting on Mr. Edenson's back. (Vol.23, R1662) Mr. Trease was demanding to know where a safe was and Mr. Edenson was saying that it was at the store. (Vol.23, R1664) Seigel then claimed that Mr. Trease told her to go to the truck and get the gun. (Vol.23, R1664) Seigel then acknowledged that she went to the truck, found the gun, brought it into the house, and claimed she gave it to Mr. Trease. (Vol.23, R1664-1666)

Seigel claimed she saw Mr. Trease put the gun to Mr. Edenson's head and heard Mr. Trease ask Mr. Edenson if he wanted to live. (Vol.23, R1666) Mr Edenson was saying yes. (Vol.23, R1666) Seigel claimed she looked away, then heard a gunshot.(Vol.23, R1667) She turned and saw Mr. Edenson trying to get up. (Vol.23, R1667-1668) Seigel saw blood and then claimed that Mr. Trease told her to bring him a knife. (Vol.23, R1668) Again, it was Seigel who went to the kitchen, found a knife in a drawer, and then claimed she took it to Mr. Trease. (Vol.23, R1668) Seigel said she saw Mr. Trease pull Mr. Edenson's head back and then she turned away. (Vol.23, R1669) She saw three movements. (Vol.23, R1670)

Seigel then claimed that Mr. Trease had her search the house for valuables and help him clean up. (Vol.23, R1671) Seigel testified that she picked up a bullet, the knife, and a piece of a rubber glove, and put the things into a bag. (Vol.23, R1672) Wine glasses with Seigel's prints were also put into the bag. (Vol.23, R1672) Seigel went with the things to the car and a short

time later Mr. Trease came out. (Vol.23, R1673) Seigel drove off and Mr. Trease purportedly told Seigel that he had heard Mr. Edenson's last breath and that he had enjoyed that. (Vol.23, R1674)

Seigel and Mr. Trease returned to Seigel's parent's home. (Vol.23, R1675) Their clothes were burned in the fireplace. (Vol. 23, R1677) The remaining items, including the knife and a jewelry box, were placed in a garbage bag, weighted down with a paint can, and dumped into the river by Seigel's house. (Vol.23, R1674-1680) Seigel later led police to the bag. (Vol.23, R1740)

After disposing of everything, Seigel got dressed up again and she and Mr. Trease went to a local bar called Tink's. (Vol.23, R1794) They had a few drinks and Seigel claimed she went into the bathroom and cried. (Vol.23, R1796)

Seigel and Mr. Trease then left Bradenton in Seigel's truck. (Vol.23, R1681) They headed for Pennsylvania, where Seigel was from. Seigel had already planned a trip to visit an old girlfriend. (Vol.23, R1781,1731)

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