## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT JEFFREY TREASE,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 89,961

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

here because the motive to fabricate arose before Bays made the post-arrest statement; that is, Bays was under arrest for armed robbery at the time he made his statement. disagree. First, the motive to fabricate does not necessarily arise simply because the witness has been arrested and charged with a See, e.g., Anderson v. State, 574 So.2d 87 (Fla.1991) (witness's prior consistent statements to police officer, given the night of her arrest but before her plea agreement, were admissible to rebut implication of recent fabrication because motive to fabricate arose after plea agreement); Edwards v. State, 662 (Fla. 405 1st DCA 1995), review dismissed, 679 So.2d 772 (Fla.1996). Second, the questioning on cross-examination brought out information which made it appear that Bays had obtained details about the crime through newspaper articles and police reports, which were not written until after Bays had given the statement. Thus, as the trial court recognized, the officer's testimony necessary to rebut the "inference of recent fabrication based on information obtained." However, even were we to conclude that the officer's testimony was erroneously admitted, we would find the error to be harmless. officer's testimony was brief and at least two other witnesses testified that Shellito had bragged to them about committing the murder.

Appellant's protestations to the contrary notwithstanding, Trease's cross-examination of Hope Siegel opened the door to the prosecutor's demonstrating that her present testimony was not false or fabricated to obtain the benefits of the plea.

Appellant's claim at page 53 of the brief that counsel did not suggest or imply there were multiple reasons or motives to fabricate is not accurate. For example, in the defense closing argument Trease argued that Siegel in return for her plea to second

degree murder and to obtain a sentence of ten to twenty years must testify truthfully and consistently with the statements she made to police and to the proffer given the state and that she has not yet been sentenced (Vol. XXIX, TR. 2735-2736). Counsel also argued that in considering witnesses' testimony they should consider "Has the witness been offered or received any money, preferred treatment, or other benefit in order to get the witness to testify?" and "Did the witness have some interest in how the case was decided?" (Vol. XXIX, TR. 2738). Quite apart from closing argument, the defense cross-examination of Siegel chose to put in issue whether her plea agreement and Defendant's Exhibit D (the prosecutor's letter to Siegel's attorney) required her to testify consistently, as well as truthfully, with her pre-plea bargain statements to the authorities (Vol. XXIII, TR. 1810-1818). Having chosen to make an issue of whether Ms. Siegel's statements were both consistent and truthful or not, Trease cannot complain of the jury's receipt of evidence of her August 24 taped statement to Trooper Keffer prior to the filing of charges and the entry of her plea to a reduced charge. Chandler, supra.

All evidence that tends to convict is prejudicial. Amoros v. State, 531 So.2d 1256, 1260 (Fla. 1988). Appellant's complaint that it was unfairly prejudicial because the tape contains emotional utterances of Hope Siegel must be rejected; it is not unfairly prejudicial since Heather Tomlinson had previously

testified without objection that upon Siegel's arrival in Pennsylvania when not in the presence of defendant Siegel was crying, shaking and visibly upset (Vol. XXV, TR. 2084-2088).

Finally, even if the lower court did commit error, it was harmless error. See Chandler, supra, at 198-199; Anderson, supra, at 93; Shellito, supra, at 841; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). See also Alvin v. State, 548 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1989)(trial court did not err in admitting tape recorded statement of Remy to rebut the inference that he had fabricated his story because the state granted him immunity in exchange for his testimony; to the extent the tape was consistent with his trial testimony, it was admissible for this purpose. Admission of portions of the tape containing matters not testified to was harmless error). In the instant case the prosecutor, defense and the court engaged in a thorough review of the tape to redact material that Siegel had not testified about in order to satisfy the Alvin requirements (Vol. XXV, TR. 2168-2191).

### **ISSUE IV**

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF ALLEGEDLY BAD ACTS OF TREASE.

At a hearing conducted November 22, 1996, the trial court considered the defense objection to the state's multiple notices of intent to rely on similar fact evidence (Vol. XIV, R 327-342). With respect to the first notice filed by the state pertaining to the burglary of David Shorin wherein a gun was stolen used in the instant homicide as well as a safe [the safe recovered where Hope Siegel claimed Trease had discarded it after the Edenson murder], defense counsel conceded "with all honesty to the Court, as it relates to Mr. Shorin, I believe it's not truly similar fact It's one of a case where the facts and the finding of the gun are inextricably intertwined with the murder case and therefore, it's not truly similar fact evidence" (Vol. XIV, R. The remaining notices, the defense argued, concerned incidents which were not sufficiently similar (Vol. XIV, R. 331). The prosecutor answered that all the notices were filed in an abundance of caution, that the Shorin burglary was not similar fact but constituted admissible evidence since the stolen 9 mm. Glock was the weapon used in the Edenson homicide and recovered by police in the bedroom Trease was using in Pennsylvania (Vol. XIV, R. 331-332).

With respect to testimony of Brigitte Berousek and Heather

Tomlinson regarding appellant's efforts to request their assistance in targeting other potential robbery victims, the prosecutor argued that (1) it was a unique modus operandi for a defendant to ask coparticipants about people they knew who had safes for them to commit burglaries, and (2) was corroborative of the testimony of the state's chief witness where that witness' credibility is attacked (Vol. XIV, R. 334-335). With respect to the notices involving the burglaries of Joseph Bavaro and Ken Creye, the prosecutor represented that he had not decided whether to use that evidence -- which also involved Trease and Hope Siegel -- the prosecutor did not think he would use that evidence (Vol. XIV, R. 337), and appellant acknowledges (Brief, p. 55) that the prosecutor <u>did not offer</u> testimony about Creye and Bavaro. announced it would deny the defense motion to strike as it related to the Shorin burglary whence the gun used in the Edenson homicide derived and would take the remainder under advisement (Vol. XIV, R. 339, 341-342).

Appellant does not appear to challenge in this appeal the correctness of the ruling concerning the Shorin burglary which is understandable. See Griffin v. State, 639 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1994);

Amoros v. State, 531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988); see also Voorhees v. State, 699 So.2d 602, 608 n 4 (Fla. 1997)(trial court did not err in admitting into evidence defendant's possession of a knife because it was relevant, as there was testimony linking the knife

to the murder scene as well as to the stolen car).

Trease raises a number of complaints under this point -- which he characterizes as improper other bad acts -- that Heather Tomlinson and Bridgette Berousek testified about appellant's request to provide information about people who had a safe or money, that he lied to Hope Siegel, Becky Bishop and Edjanira Viana by telling them he worked for law enforcement agencies, that there was testimony of witnesses that Trease was familiar with or practiced martial arts and demonstrated the use of knives on one's throat, that Trease used medications Vicodin and Valium for an asserted heart condition when such medications do not aid the heart, and the court disallowed testimony from Berousek that Siegel was angry and appeared to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol during an encounter at her job site. Although many of these assertions do not seem to be Williams-rule issues, appellee will address them, infra.

# (1) The Tomlinson-Berousek Testimony of Trease's Requests for Information Targeting People Who Had Safes or Money:

Appellant contends that it was improper for witnesses Tomlinson and Berousek to provide testimony regarding his requests that they provide information on people to target who had money or safes (Vol. XXV, TR 2098-2100; Vol. XXVII, TR. 2451); Trease argues that these conversations were not completed burglaries, citing Audano v. State, 641 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 2DCA 1994), a child sexual battery case where the appellate court concluded that the standards

of <u>Heuring v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1987), were not met. Appellee would submit that in <u>Malloy v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 1190, 1192 (Fla. 1979), this Court rejected a defense contention that improper <u>Williams</u>-rule<sup>7</sup> evidence was introduced since ". . . the circumstances of the lounge incident do not establish all the elements of a crime, and, consequently, the question of the admissibility of prior criminal acts is not present." See also <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988) (testimony of witness that defendant admitted "you just get used to it" when asked if it bothered him to shoot a girl in the head was relevant evidence tending to prove that he had committed such a crime two months earlier; it did not matter that he had also suggested a crime that had not been committed. Even if the proposal and solicitation were not similar enough to show modus operandi, it was not unfairly prejudicial).

Trease's pre-homicide request to Bridgette Berousek in March
-- five months prior to the burglary and murder of Paul Edenson -was relevant and admissible evidence. The issue at trial was
whether Trease murdered Edenson and committed a burglary and
robbery at his residence. Eyewitness Hope Siegel insisted that she
met the victim pursuant to appellant's desire that she examine the
residence for the whereabouts of a safe containing valuables (as
Siegel and Trease had done previously in the Shorin burglary). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup><u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

defense offered the thesis that Siegel killed Edenson because she was jealous of Trease's paying attention to other women at a bar and his arrest in Pennsylvania in possession of the gun used in the killing was . . . a mistake. Thus, appellant's prior request to Berousek was not submitted to show mere propensity but rather was specific activity showing a modus operandi of discovering and targeting potential wealthy victims who had readily available assets in their homes and his intent; it also is corroborative of Siegel's testimony. See generally Ferrell v. State, 686 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1996) (evidence of robbery of victim days earlier explained defendant's motivation in seeking to prevent retaliation by victim); Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1996) (other crime evidence admissible to show defendant's motive and intent); Hoefert v. State, 617 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1993)(testimony of other choking victims relevant to issue of motive); Williams v. State, 622 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1993)(evidence of attempted murder in Jacksonville four months prior to Pensacola murders relevant to show modus operandi in operation of his drug business). <u>Jensen v. State</u>, 555 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1DCA), review denied, 564 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 1990) (evidence of prior burglaries on victim's house admissible to prove intent since the more frequently an act is done the less likely that it is Evidence of other crimes or acts can be innocently done). admissible to prove motive and in such a case it is not necessary that the evidence be similar. Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla.

1995). It is also corroborative of Siegel's testimony whose credibility appellant mightily challenged. See C. Jones v. State, 610 So.2d 105 (Fla. 3DCA 1992)(letter from defendant to his wife containing references to his prior drug use admissible in prosecution for aggravated child abuse and battery since wife had testified that defendant was under the influence of drugs during one of the offenses charged; his admissions in the letter were relevant to corroborate her testimony).

With respect to Trease's post-homicidal request to Tomlinson, that similarly tends to support Hope Siegel's testimony regarding the unsuccessful effort to find a safe containing valuables during the Edenson burglary-murder and the limited proceeds obtained from that crime.

Even if the Court were to find that the introduction of evidence of witnesses Berousek and Tomlinson that appellant asked about people with safe or money was error, such error was harmless. See Gibson v. State, 661 So.2d 288, 292 (Fla. 1995)(harmless error to admit testimony of two witnesses that defendant had asked to have anal intercourse with them which they declined since the witnesses had declined the request and, there was compelling evidence of guilt despite the absence of eyewitness identification [which the instant case does have]).

## (2) Appellant's Lies to Siegel, Bishop, and Viana About Employment as a Law Enforcement Agent:

Trease complains about testimony from Siegel, Bishop and Viana

that he had lied to them by claiming to be involved in law enforcement (Vol. XXIII, TR. 1625; Vol. XXIV, TR 1977-1978; Vol. XXV, TR. 2231). Appellee submits that telling a lie about one's employment to girlfriends or to those whom one meets at a bar is not a crime or bad act prohibited by F.S. 90.404. In any event, appellant's representing himself as a law enforcement officer to Viana at the Cha Cha Coconuts -- as well as representing Hope Siegel as a police agent to both Margarida Wortmann (Vol. XXIV, TR 1951-1952) and Edjanira Viana (Vol. XXIV, TR 1979) -- was significant because according to Siegel she and Trease argued outside the establishment, Trease complaining that she had "messed things up", that the two Brazilian women had money (Vol. XIII, TR 1649-1651). This testimony found support in the Viana testimony that she was wearing five or six rings and that she wrote her phone number on a piece of paper when Trease requested it (Vol. XXIV, TR 1972-1977) after Wortmann corrected her friend's representation that she was too poor to have a phone (Vol. XXIV, TR 1974) by telling Trease that Viana was "a very rich woman" (Vol. XXV, TR 2195-2196). Appellant's minor lies about his police employment were relevant to the specific larcenous intent he had on the night of the Edenson burglary-robbery-homicide and his use of Siegel to investigate the victim's premises, and tended to negate the defense hypothesis that Siegel killed Edenson because of jealousy.

### (3) Trease's Proficiency or Familiarity with the Martial Arts and Combat Use of Knives:

Appellant complains that witness Colson testified about Trease's demonstrated proficiency with a knife (Vol. XXVII, TR. 2440-2445) and that witness Berousek corroborated the Hope Siegel testimony that Trease practiced martial arts (Vol. XXVII, TR. 2451). The trial court, citing Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988), ruled that knowledge of knives and the martial arts was not Williams-rule similar fact evidence (Vol. XXVII, TR 2424-2437). The defense acknowledged that martial arts testimony was "relevant to show that he knew how to do those things" (Vol. XXVII, TR. 2430-2431).

The testimony relating to appellant's familiarity, proficiency and skill with the martial arts and knives was relevant and admissible, 9 especially given the nature of victim's injuries. See Pittman v. State, 646 So.2d 167, 170 (Fla. 1994)(approving the admission of evidence that defendant once made a gas bomb because relevant to the murder-arson charges being prosecuted).

### (4) Trease's Use of Medications for an Asserted Heart Condition:

Appellant also complains that the prosecutor improperly demonstrated that Trease was lying when he claimed that he was taking the medication Vicodin and Valium for a heart condition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Appellant did not contemporaneously renew his objection to this testimony by Berousek (Vol. XXVII, TR. 2451), and thus it is procedurally barred. <u>Hazen v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>No notice was required because F.S. 90.404(2)(a) is inapplicable; the evidence is admissible under F.S. 90.402. See <u>Tumulty v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 150, 153 (Fla. 4DCA 1986).

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